IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ARVIND KUMAR, INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A HOLIDAY INN OF COLUMBUS, BHAVNA KUMAR, TONY SAVAGE AND TRACEY SAVAGE

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2009-TS-02037

SHANNA LOPER

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOHN W. CROWELL, MSB # NICHOLS, CROWELL, GILLIS, COOPER & AMOS, PLLC ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS POST OFFICE BOX 1827 COLUMBUS, MISSISSIPPI 39703-1827

TEL: (662) 243-7308 FAX: (662) 328-6890

EMAIL: jcrowell@nicholscrowell.com

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO VACATE THE JUDGMENT BASED UPON RULE 55(b).
- II. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO VACATE THE JUDGMENT BASED UPON RULE 60(b).
- III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY DECLINING TO CONSIDER THE THREE FACTOR TEST

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction and Procedural History

Loper's Complaint for sexual harassment was filed on December 9, 2008, and process was issued and served upon Arvind Kumar on December 12, 2008, Tony Savage on December 9, 2008 and upon Tracy Savage on December 12, 2008. Although Bhavna Kumar was named as a defendant, there was no process upon her and she has not appeared. Although there is a reference to the Holiday Inn in the style of the case, the Holiday Inn is not a separate entity and was never made a party to this litigation. After process, Defendants' counsel wrote Loper's counsel and told him of the Defendants' intention to defend. Although no written answer was ever filed with the court, Loper's counsel was never told there would be no defense. With no notice to Defendants or their counsel, Loper filed an application for default which was granted by the clerk. An Interlocutory Judgment was entered by the Court against the Appellants on February 24, 2009, with an order setting a hearing for damages. On April 21, 2009, the Court conducted an evidentiary hearing regarding damages, and on June 11, 2009, issued its Order Awarding Damages. On June 17, 2009, the Appellants filed their motion to vacate the default and they filed an answer on August 11, 2009. An Amended Motion to Set Aside was filed August 13, 2009. The Court conducted a hearing on the motions on August 17, 2009, and on October 28, 2009 entered an order denying the Appellants request to vacate the judgment. On November 2, 2009, the Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied by the Court on November 23, 2009.

On December 22, 2009, Appellants filed their notice of Appeal, followed by you the appeal bond and the designation of record on December 29, 2009. The record in this case was docketed on January 5, 2010.

B. Statement of Facts

On March 24, 2008, Loper became employed by Mit-Sar, LLC, the entity which was operating the Holiday Inn franchise in Columbus, Mississippi (T 19, 45, RE 29)¹. Mit-Sar was never identified or named as a defendant in this case. Loper worked as a cocktail waitress in a bar and lounge on the Holiday Inn premises (T 6). Tony Savage, 22 years of age, with a first grade education (T 43). was a co-employee. Loper's immediate supervisor was Tony's mother, Tracy Savage (T 19). Arvind Kumar was the manager of Mit-Sar who had no direct involvement in the operation of the bar (RE 29).

Loper's duties included taking drink orders from customers (T 20). Her employment was terminated on July 25, 2008, after working only 4 months, not because anyone harassed her, but because she forged a customer's credit ticket (T 20-21, 42). She was paid a base rate of \$2.10 per hour and retained the actual tips that were allocated to her.

In her Complaint and in her testimony before the Court, Loper claimed earnings of \$4,000 per month (T 6), but she offered no copies of her tax returns for 2008 or other documentation of that claim (T 6). She claimed earnings of \$2,500 per month (T 11) related to a cleaning service, but offered no documentation related to that claim.

¹ References in the brief are to the Record (R_) bates numbered pages in the Record Excerpts (RE_) and the Transcript (T__) or the Exhibits (Ex_).

Loper was fired from her job because of customer complaints that she forged a bar bill and had offered sex for money to a separate customer (T 23).

Contrary to her allegations, Loper never complained to Tony Savage (T 48-50), to Tracy Savage (T 25) or to Arvind Kumar (RE 29) about the alleged misconduct of Tony Savage. There was no written report of any misconduct submitted to Mit-Sar (RE 29) In contrast, there was testimony that Loper was the party initiating the physical contact (T 25-26, 47-48)

At the damages hearing, Loper produced a microcassette tape, and a transcript, that allegedly depicted a conversation that she had on one occasion with Tony Savage and another co-worker. There was no attempt at the hearing to authenticate the tape or provide a proper foundation for its introduction into evidence (T 7-8). At the hearing, she asked the Court to award her damages of \$700,000 based upon her allegations and the skimpy proof and testimony that had been provided. There is no evidence that Loper filed any type of complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or that any right to sue letter was generated.

On December 9, 2008, with no further notice to these Defendants, Loper filed her Complaint. She offered no explanation to the Court for why no process was made on Ms. Kumar or Ms. Kumar's involvement in the alleged misconduct.

As soon as a demand was made upon the Defendants, Loper's counsel was contacted by Ed Pleasants on behalf of Appellants who told him that the claims were denied and would be strenuously resisted (RE 57-58). Leaving no doubt that the Defendants disputed the claims, Pleasants wrote to Loper's counsel and said:

Mr. Kumar, Traci Savage, and Tony Savage all categorically and emphatically deny every single claim made by Ms. Shanna Loper in that August 6, 2008 letter. Ms. Loper was fired from the Holiday Inn solely because of her repeated inappropriate conduct as a waitress, which included, among other things, stealing money from customers. My clients wholly and conclusively reject your offer to resolve any claims by Shanna Loper to avoid litigation. If Ms. Loper does, in fact, initiate any litigation based off false accusations, then my clients will immediately pursue malicious prosecution action against her.

Although Pleasants later said he would not continue to represent the Defendants (T 60), neither he nor the Defendants ever expressed any intent to concede Loper's claims (T 60-63), and there is no evidence that Pleasants ever communicated that position to the Defendants.

Tracy Savage assumed responsibility for communicating with Pleasants (T 28-30) and checked with him on a regular basis (T 36) as to whether the defense was being protected. In return, she received verbal assurances from Pleasants (T 30-31), and was provided with a copy of an answer (T 30-31, RE 59-61) which Pleasants told her he had filed with the Court (T 31-32). The record confirmed that no such answer was filed.

At some point, according to Loper's counsel, Pleasants advised that he would not be representing the Defendants in the case, and that another Columbus attorney would be retained to defend them (R 60). There is no evidence that any other attorney was not ever contacted by Pleasants. More importantly, Pleasants <u>never</u> told Smith that no defense would be offered or that the Defendants had abandoned the defense. (T 60-63).

On February 10, 2009, without writing any type of confirming correspondence to Pleasants or providing notice to Pleasants or the Defendants, or the potential replacement attorney, Taylor Smith, Loper filed her application for default (RE 12).

As the result of inquiry by counsel for Kumar in an unrelated matter, Loper's Complaint was discovered and a motion to vacate the default judgment was filed, along with supporting affidavits and materials (RE 16-18, 23-38).

The lower court found that no one had "entered an appearance" on behalf of the Defendants, and as a result, it was unnecessary for Loper's counsel to give further notice to Ed Pleasants, any other attorney, or to the Defendants. Although Defendants specifically asked the Court to consider the three part test espoused by Mississippi state and federal courts, the Court declined to do so.

The undisputed fact is that as soon as these Defendants were served with process, they took the steps necessary to retain an attorney (T 28), they maintained contact with the attorney for assurance that he was resisting the claim (T 30), and they were given an answer which he told them had been filed with the Court (T 30-31, RE 59-61).

There was no evidence, other than Loper's testimony, of any earnings that she had received at the Holiday Inn or elsewhere for the year of the alleged misconduct or at any prior time. The Lower Court found there was evidence of only "minor physical contact from Tony Savage (RE 6). Even the description of the incident depicted by the tape would not support an award of \$100,000 in this case.

Although Loper claimed she resigned her employment as a result of harassment (T 10), the testimony of Tracey Savage, substantiated by documentary evidence (R 55-56), is that she was terminated because she forged a customer's credit card charges and because a separate customer complained because she had failed to perform the sexual favors she had promised (T 20-21, 23).

It is undisputed that the lower court failed to apply the three part test applicable in these cases. There was ample explanation for the Defendants' failure to file an answer, there was ample evidence of a meritorious defense on the part of the Defendants, conceded by Plaintiff's counsel (T 60-63), and no proof whatsoever offered by the Plaintiff relative to the prejudice that would result in a vacation of a default.

As a result, the Court's ruling denying the relief requested by the Defendants, as well as the interlocutory and final judgments entered against them, should be reversed and vacated, granting the Defendants the opportunity to fully contest this claim.

Admittedly, there was no <u>new</u> appearance by the Defendants, but Pleasants never told Smith that the Defendants had abandoned their defense. The letter from Pleasants to Smith detailing the Defendants' position (RE 57-58) was never withdrawn, and that letter and the advice to Smith that new counsel was being retained collectively evidenced a "...clear intent to defend the suit."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When the Defendants were served, they immediately hired an attorney who told Plaintiff's counsel that the claim would be contested and he gave Defendants a copy of an Answer he said had been filed. Defendants unquestionably expressed their intent to defend and no one ever told Loper or her attorney that the defense had been abandoned. That contest is an appearance that, under Rule 55(b), requires notice to the Defendants, or It is not necessary for an attorney to manifest the intent to defend. Pleasants did manifest the intent to defend, by telling Smith that all claims were denied, (RE 57-58), and

although he later told Smith <u>he</u> would not be handling the defense, Pleasants never said that Defendants wouldn't contest the claim.

M.R.C.P. Rule 55 specifically contemplates the possibility that a party may appear in the action without the necessity of hiring an attorney to do so. The rule provides, in part, as follows:

(b) Judgment. In all cases, the party entitled to a judgment by default shall apply to the court therefor. If the party against whom judgment by default is sought has appeared in the action, he (or if appearing by representative, his representative) shall be served with written notice of the application of judgment at least three days prior to the hearing of such application...(emphasis added).

Rule 55 also shows that the court may set aside a default in accordance with Rule 60(b). (...if a judgment by default has been entered, [the court] may likewise set it aside in accordance with Rule 60(b)).

The comment to Rule 55 is telling, as follows:

The mere appearance by a defending party will not keep him from being in default for failure to plead or otherwise defend, but if he appears and indicates the desire the contest the action, the court can exercise its discretion and refuse to enter a default. This approach is in line with a general policy that whenever there is doubt whether a default should be entered, the court ought to allow the case to be tried on the merits...although an appearance by a defending party does not immunize him from being in default for failure to plead or otherwise defend, it does entitle him to at least three days written notice of the application to the court for the entry of a Judgment based on his default. (emphasis added).

Under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 60(b), in determining whether a Default Judgment should be set aside, our Courts are directed to consider three factors:

(1) whether the Defendant has good cause for his default; (2) whether the Defendant has

a colorable defense to the merits of the claim; and (3) the nature and extent of prejudice which may be suffered by the Plaintiff if the default is set aside. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Green*, 794 So.2d 170 (Miss.2001); *Stanford v. Parker*, 822 So.2d 886 (Miss. 2002).

Appellants acted prudently when served and they hired a lawyer to defend the claims. Ed Pleasants vehemently disputed Loper's claims and Tracy Savage continued to maintain contact with Pleasants and received assurances that the Defendants were protected and was provided a copy of an answer that he said had been filed with the Court (RE 59-61).

This is not an instance where the Defendants ignored the Court's rules. Defendants' failure to file an Answer was, at most, a mistaken reliance on the representation of their attorney and not occasioned by disregard of the service of process or indifference. And this is not a case where the Defendants were claims personnel, and simply forgot about or failed to seek representation. The Defendants, having received what was purportedly a copy of an answer filed with the court, are not guilty of disregarding Plaintiff's Complaint. Instead, these Defendants were victims of malpractice, or worse, by the counsel upon which they were relying.

Ample good cause exists that should prevent a judgment for being taken against them.

Even assuming that "good cause" has not been shown, a default judgment is still not warranted. The three prong test of Rule 60(b) is a balancing test which does not require that all three factors be met for a judgment to be set aside.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has said that the presence of a meritorious defense on the merits is a ground for awarding relief even where good cause is not shown:

If any one of three (3) factors in the balancing tests out weighs the other in importance, this is the one. Indeed, we have encouraged our trial courts to vacate default judgments whether Defendant has shown that he has a meritorious defense on the merits.

Clark v. City of Pascagoula, 507 So.2d 70, 77 (Miss. 1987); Bryant, Inc. v. Walters, 493 So.2d 933, 937 (Miss. 1986); Bailey v. Georgia Cotton Goods Co., 543 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1989); Shannon v. Henson, 499 So.2d 758, 768 (Miss. 1986) (colorable defense mitigates against enforcement of default.) See also Allstate Ins. Co. v. Green, 794 So.2d 174 (Miss. 2001) (holding it to be a reversible error for a trial court not to set aside default judgment when a defendant had a colorable defense on the merits of the underlying claim).

Defendants asked the Court to do is weigh the equities and vacate the default judgment. Loper, who did not testify at the hearing, <u>misled</u> the Court when she alleged in her complaint, and then testified at the initial hearing, that she was forced to "...resign her employment..." As the proof clearly established, Loper did not resign. She was fired because of her dishonesty and inappropriate conduct. She does not deserve a windfall based upon her misrepresentation to the Court.

On the other hand, the proof is undisputed that the Defendants were all represented by counsel, that they relied upon him, that he denied the Plaintiff's claims by

letter and by conduct, and the Defendants were furnished with a copy of an answer he reportedly filed.

The Plaintiff will sustain no prejudice at all as a result of this Court setting aside the default judgment. Loper and her counsel have at all times been aware that Defendants denied any liability in this matter and Loper didn't even bother to attend or testify at the hearing on the Motion to Vacate (T 67). She offered no claim of prejudice, and has made her record through her testimony in the earlier evidentiary hearing.

To the contrary, not setting aside the entry of default would result in tremendous prejudice to the Defendants, and then should be afforded an opportunity to defend the merits of this case and should not be prevented from arguing their case due to an inadvertent mistake.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS SHOULD BE SET ASIDE

Rule 60 (b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

- (b) Mistakes: Inadvertence; newly discovered evidence; fraud, etc. On motion and upon such terms as <u>are just</u>, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a Final Judgment, Order, or proceeding for the following reasons:
 - (1) Fraud; misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
 - (2) Accident or mistake;...
 - (6) Any other reason justifying relief from the judgment.

M.R.C.P. 60(b) (emphasis added)

Although "default judgments are not favored in the law, it does not follow that a party seeking relief from a default judgment is entitled to that relief as a matter of right," Pointer v. Huffman, 509 So.2d 870, 875 (Miss. 1987); see also Guaranty National Insurance Co. v. Pittman, 501 So.2d, 377 (Miss. 1987) (citations omitted). This Court has stated that "where there is a reasonable doubt as to whether or not a default judgment should be vacated, the doubt should be resolved in favor of opening the judgment and hearing the case on its merits," McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So.2d 839, 843 (Miss. 2001) quoting Southwestern Surety Ins. Co. v. Treadway, 113 Miss. 189, 74 So. 143, 143 (1917).

In determining whether a default judgment should be set aside, the Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly weighed the following factors in a three prong balancing under M.R.C.P. 60(b):

- (1) the nature and legitimacy of the Defendant's reasons for its Default, i.e. whether the Defendant has good cause for its Default;
- (2) whether the Defendant has a colorable defense to the merits of the claim; and
- (3) the nature and extent of prejudice which may be suffered by the Plaintiff if the Default is set aside.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Green, 794 So.2d 170 (Miss. 2001); Stanford v. Parker, 822 So.2d 886 (Miss. 2002), H & W Transfer & Cartage Service, Inc. v. Griffin, 511 So.2d, 895, 898 (Miss. 1987).

The first factor to be addressed by this Court is the culpability of the Defendants' conduct with respect to the delay in filing their Answer. Rule 60(b) provides that a default judgment may be set aside for mistake, inadvertence or excusable neglect. Such is certainly the case here. Defendants were served on December 9 and 12, 2008. Defendants delivered the Complaint and Summons to their attorney, Ed Pleasants, and relied upon him to negotiate with Plaintiff's counsel in an effort to persuade Loper to dismiss her claims and defend the case, if necessary.

The second factor is whether the Defendants have a meritorious defense. The second prong of this balancing test asks whether the defendant has a colorable defense to the merits of the plaintiff's claim. See e.g., Pittman, 501 So.2d at 388. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that "[i]f any one of the three factors in the balancing test outweighs the other in importance, this is the one." Bailey, 543 So.2d at 182; see also Stanford, 822 So.2d at 888 (quoting Allstate Ins. Co. v. Green, 794 So.2d 170, 174 (Miss. 2001)) (stating that this Court has "encouraged trial courts to vacate a default judgment where 'the defendant has shown that he has a meritorious defense'"). In this case, Loper claims that she was injured, in part, due to the conduct of the Defendants.

Defendants have a strong defense against Plaintiffs' claims.

As to the final factor, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that "mere delay does not alone constitute prejudice. Rather, the plaintiff must show that the delay will result in the loss of evidence, increased difficulties in discovery, or greater opportunities for fraud or collusion." *Lacy v. Sitel Corp.*, 227 F.3d 290, 293 (5th Cir. 2000) (citing *Berthelsen v. Kane*, 907 F.2d 617, 621 (6th Cir. 1990). Here there is certainly no

prejudice to the Plaintiff because no Final Judgment has been entered, and the finding of damages was entered by the Court on June 11, only 6 days prior to the filing of the Defendants' initial motion to set aside the defaults. In order to avoid any potential prejudice to the Plaintiff, Defendants offered to enter a tight scheduling order and cooperate in any way to expedite a trial of this matter (RE 27).

(1) Defendants' failure to Answer was, at most, the result of simple negligence and error, not an utter disregard for service of process or indifference.

In all times, Defendants acted in good faith. Having recovered a copy of the Complaint, Defendants contacted their attorney (T 30-31) who specifically advised Plaintiff's counsel that Defendants intended to vigorously defend this matter.

These Defendants did not ignore the Court's rules. In *International Paper Co. v. Basila, 460 So. 2d 1202 (Miss. 1984)*, the Supreme Court reversed the default judgment and set it aside holding that Defendant's failure to file an Answer was by mistake or accident and "was certainly not occasioned by simple disregard of the service of process or indifference." Id at 1204. These Defendants are not guilty of disregarding Plaintiff's Complaint. Ed Pleasants contacted Plaintiff's counsel after suit was filed but not yet served and advised Plaintiff's counsel of the intent to defend the suit. Likewise, this is not a case where the Defendants were trained and experienced claims personnel who forgot about or misplaced the complaint. In *American States Insurance Company v. Rogillio*, 10 S. 3d. 463 (Miss. 2009), the Supreme Court affirmed a lower court's refusal to vacate a default judgment, finding that the insurance company's misplacing the summons and complaint did not constitute excusable neglect.

These Defendants acted in utter good faith. If any mistake was made by them, it was in putting their reliance upon the representation of the attorney they hired to defend them. Ample good cause exist that would prohibit a default judgment for being taken against them.

(2) Appellants have a colorable defense on the merits of this claim.

Even assuming that "good cause" has not been shown, a default judgment is still not warranted. The 3 prong test of Rule 60(b) is a balancing test which does not require that all three factors be met for a judgment to be set aside.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has said that the presence of a meritorious defense on the merits is a ground for awarding relief even where good cause is not shown:

If anyone of three (3) factors in the balancing tests out ways the other in importance, this is the one. Indeed, we have encouraged our trial courts to vacate default judgments whether Defendant has shown that he has a meritorious defense on the merits.

Clark v. City of Pascagoula, 507 So.2d 70, 77 (Miss. 1987); Bryant, Inc. v. Walters, 493 So.2d 933, 937 (Miss. 1986); Bailey v. Georgia Cotton Goods Co., 543 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1989)); Shannon v. Henson, 499 So.2d 758, 768 (Miss. 1986) (colorable defense mitigates against enforcement of default.) See also Allstate, 794 So.2d 174 (Miss. 2001) (holding it to be a reversible error for a trial court not to set aside default judgment when a defendant had a colorable defense on the merits of the underlying claim).

The second factor is whether the Defendants have a meritorious defense. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that if any of the three factors outweighs the others in importance, meritorious defense is that factor. *Bailey v. Georgia Cotton Goods Co.*, 543 So. 2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1989).; *Stanford v. Parker*, 822 So. 2d 886, 888 (Miss. 2002). Our Supreme Court has encouraged trial courts to vacate a default judgment where the Defendant has shown that he has a meritorious defense. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Green*, 794 So. 2d 170, 174 (Miss. 2001). Loper did not appear at the hearing on the motion to vacate, but previously testified that she resigned her employment because of the alleged sexual harassment. In fact, as the testimony and documentary evidence at this hearing clearly showed, she was terminated because of her own misconduct. We submit there is no chance that Plaintiff can prevail at trial. Given the misrepresentation by the Plaintiff in her earlier testimony, there can be no doubt that the Defendants have a meritorious defense to assert in this case. Counsel for Plaintiff conceded in argument that Defendants set forth a meritorious defense.

American States Ins. Co. v. Rogillio, 10 So.3d 463 (Miss. 2009) sets forth a good summary of the many cases that have considered this issue. It acknowledges the general rule that the second factor, whether the movant has a meritorious defense, is the most important. In argument, Plaintiff conceded that the hearing established that the Defendants had established a meritorious defense, and we think that is clear. An opportunity for the Defendants to present their defense, and avoid not only a default judgment for \$100,000 but also the stigma of a claim of sexual harassment, is much more

important to the Defendants than the thin claim that Plaintiff would suffer from a short delay.

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