# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-TS-02037

ARVIND KUMAR, INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A HOLIDAY INN OF COLUMBUS, BHAVNA KUMAR TONY SAVAGE AND TRACEY SAVAGE

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS** 

V.

SHANNA LOPER

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY. MISSISSIPPI

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED.

P. Nelson Smith, Jr. Mississippi State Bar No

Of Counsel HICKS & SMITH, PLLC 710 Main Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor P. O. Box 1111 Columbus, MS 39703-1111 (662) 243-7300

Attorney for Plaintiff – Appellee Shanna Loper

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-TS-02037

ARVIND KUMAR, INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendants failed to enter an appearance of any nature after the Complaint was filed until after default judgment was taken and damages awarded. The only contact by counsel for the Defendants after suit was filed was to announce he was not representing the Defendants. Subsequently, Defendants never sought any other counsel or made any appearance pro se. Only

through chance did current defense counsel learn of the default, in conjunction with their representation of Arvind Kumar in his divorce.

The default judgment in the trial court is taken as an adjudication on the merits, as if a jury trial had occurred. Defendants cannot now set aside the default. The Rules of Civil Procedure provide for the process followed by the Plaintiff. She is entitled to her judgment. The Defendants failed to follow the Rules of Civil Procedure, at their peril. The trial court's judgment and award of damages should be upheld.

#### ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

Whether or not the Defendants have the right to set aside a default judgment after the default judgment has been taken, after an evidentiary hearing on damages has been held, when the defendants failed to make any make any appearance in the case.

The Defendants' case, when it is all boiled down, is simply a complaining to the Court that they should have gotten a three (3) days notice before the default could be tried. The Circuit Court found Defendants' counsel called Plaintiff's attorney on December 9, 2008, whereby he informed Plaintiff's attorney that he was no longer representing the Defendants in this matter. (RE 0100-0101) Plaintiff's counsel heard nothing else from the Defendants or any other Defendants' counsel. (RE 0088-0099) Since Plaintiff's counsel was not contacted by the Defendants or other counsel after their communication, no one manifested a clear intent to defend the suit, so as to constitute an appearance, after the suit was filed. (RE 0100-0101) Since no one made any appearance on behalf of the Defendants, the Defendants were not entitled three (3) days notice. (RE 0100-0101) Judge Howard correctly found, based on the testimony presented to it at any hearing in this matter, no one has appeared in this action. The "mere possibility" of another attorney handling the Defendants' case is not enough to constitute an appearance. In fact, no attorney ever appeared on behalf of the Defendants in this action after Ed Pleasants communicated to Plaintiff's counsel that he was no

longer representing the Defendants. The fact that no Defendant otherwise appeared, once served with the Complaint, demonstrates the fact there was no clear intent to defend the suit. As stated in previous pleadings, what the Defendants really suggests is that Plaintiff's counsel should have run down the list of every attorney in Lowndes County to determine if they were representing the Defendants and a failure to do so should be a bar to a Default Judgment. That position simply cannot hold water in any Court. The Defendants' assertion that Ed Pleasants' letter months and months prior to any suit being filed, constitutes an appearance in an action yet to be filed, and thus requires three (3) days notice prior to default, is without basis in law or fact. The argument they make here is the same failed argument they have made all along. Judge Howard correctly found, citing Dyna Steel Corporation v Aztec Industries, 611 So.2d 977, (1992), that the focus of determining in whether the party made an appearance is whether the non-movant has manifested a clear intent to defend the suit. (RE 0100-0101) From December 9, 2008 until February 2009, and indeed even at the hearing on the damages, Plaintiff's counsel heard nothing from the Defendants or any defense counsel. (RE 0001-0016) No attorney for the Defendant has ever entered an appearance after suit was filed until after the Circuit Court entered its order awarding damages. Defendants now wish to argue the merits of the case as if no determination has already been made. Defendants fail to recognize the effect of a Default Judgment. After a Default Judgment, which here was taken on February 17, 2009, all the allegations of the Complaint are taken as true. Rush v. North American Van Lines, 608 So.2d 1205 (1992). As stated in that case, when a judgment by default is entered, it is taken as a complete and final adjudication of issues necessary to justify the relief awarded, and is given the same effect as a judgment rendered after a trial on the merits. Id. Once a default is established, the Defendants here have no further standing to contest the factual allegation of the Plaintiff's claims for relief. Id. (See also official comment to Rule 55 of the Mississippi Rule

of Civil Procedure.) The Defendants have no standing to contest the factual allegations of the Plaintiff's claim for relief. Defendants simply assert they contest the factual allegations of the Plaintiff's complaint. That is insufficient to be a colorable defense. As in the Rush case, the Defendants have filed nothing of evidentiary value. Id. Mr. Kumar has never even made a personal appearance or testified in this matter. One of the Defendants, Tony Savage, has never even met with Mr. Pleasants or anyone else to discuss the case and never paid any retainer or any sums to Mr. Pleasants. (RE 0022-0083) Mr. Savage never asked Mr. Pleasants to represent him in this matter. (RE 0022-0083) Ms. Savage never hired Mr. Pleasants to represent her for anything in this matter. (RE 0022-0083) She relied on Mr. Kumar's representation that "he (Mr. Kumar) would take care of everything". (RE 0022-0083) Ms. Savage never saw any bill from Mr. Pleasants nor ever received a written status report. (RE 0022-0083) Thus, at any hearing in this matter after the damages were awarded by Judge Howard, Mr. Kumar never appeared, Tracey Savage basically admitted Mr. Pleasants was not his attorney and Ms. Savage admitted that she did not retain or pay any sums to hire Mr. Pleasants. Yet current Counsel for the Defendants indicated to the Court that all Defendants were aware of the effect of the Complaint and the need to answer within thirty (30) days. They simply failed to answer within thirty (30) days, or even until six (6) months later.

There was no appearance by the Defendants or by anyone on behalf of the Defendants after the Complaint was filed, prior to default. The only contact by anyone after the complaint was filed and prior to default was the call from Ed Pleasants wherein he clearly, unequivocally, and undisputably stated he was not representing the Defendants. (RE 0088-0099) As Judge Howard pointed out, what further notice of a lawsuit did the Defendants require? (RE 0022-0083). They were well aware by their own testimony or by their current counsel's representations of the necessity in filing an answer. (RE 0021-0082) As in the <u>Rogillio</u> case, the Defendants here are arguing that

default was unintentional and they were in reliance on their attorney to take all necessary actions. American State Insurance Company v. Rogillio, 10 So.3d 463, (Miss. 2009). In Rogillio, the Court noted that the Defendants should have been more diligent in their actions of defending the suit. Id. The Court cited H & W Transfer and Cartage Service, Inc. v. Griffin 511 So.2d 895 (Miss. 1997), stating that although initially acting diligently in putting the complaint in the proper person's hands, the Defendants imprudently made no follow up inquiry and for all practical purposes let the matter drop until they found out that the default judgment had been taken. <u>Id.</u> at 899. The <u>Rogillio</u> Court further cited the *H. W. Transfer* case with approval, in stating that Defendants' "story" did not amount to good cause to set aside the default. Id. As in the Rogillio case, the Defendants' excuse Id. The Defendants did not claim that they did not receive the herefor defaulting defies logic. Complaint nor did they fail to recognize or understand the importance of the Complaint, they simply acted imprudently and took no further action to determine whether an answer had in fact been filed. Id. Here, as in Rogillio, the Defendants still would never have acted except that the current attorneys, by happenstance, in Arvind Kumar's divorce case, discovered this default. In the present case, not only had a default judgment been taken on liability but a hearing on a damages had been held and an order entered awarding damages. We were much further down the road than in *Rogillio* when current defense counsel accidentally discovered the default and entered their appearance.

Certainly the Plaintiff does not concede that the Defendants have established a meritorious defense. The Defendants would contest allegations of the Plaintiff, but they are a day late and a dollar short. The facts and allegations and the issues in the Complaint are taken as true. The Default Judgment is treated as the conclusive and final adjudication of the issue necessary to justify the relief awarded. It has the same effect as a trial on the merits. Tony Savage never denied the intentional infliction of emotional distress. He only testified at the hearing that he just didn't recall his

statements and actions. (RE 0022-0083) That is far from a "meritorious defense", especially when the allegations are now taken as true as if there had been a trial on the merits. In <u>Rogillio</u>, the Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not setting aside the default judgment. <u>Id.</u> Clearly, it logically follows that the Supreme Court believed the trial court had made the correct decision. If it believed otherwise, the Supreme Court would have found that the trial court had abused its discretion and would have reversed it.

Ms. Loper has testified in this matter. (RE 0001-0016) The Defendants were not present, as they have never defended this matter prior to the default and never defended this matter on the hearing on damages. Thus her testimony and the Judgment of the Court is taken as true and conclusive. It is factually undisputed that Mr. Pleasants only contact, once suit had been filed, was to inform Plaintiff's counsel that he was not representing the Defendants. That did not relieve the Defendants of the necessity of filing an answer or otherwise appearing in this matter after they were served with summonses and the complaint. Thus the trial court correctly noted that the Defendants had notice. (RE 0022-0083). The bottom line is, after service, the Defendants failed to answer and took no further action until the current Defense Counsel, representing Mr. Kumar in his divorce, noticed that a default had been taken against Mr. Kumar. Had that happenstance not occurred, there still would not be any appearance by Mr. Kumar!

#### CONCLUSION

The Default Judgment should not be set aside. At the hearing on this matter to set aside the default, the majority of the testimony offered by the two (2) Defendants that did show up in court was strictly hearsay. They talked about "unknown" customers who did not testify at the hearing. Judge Howard let them testify but recognized that it was hearsay and that hearsay is not any evidence that legitimately contests the judgment.

Defense counsel argued at the hearing that the allegations of the complaint were denied through Ed Pleasants. However, all such contact with Ed Pleasants, his correspondence and subsequent emails, were <u>before</u> any suit was filed. The only communication, after suit was filed and after summons was served, was that he was <u>not</u> representing the Defendants. Judge Howard correctly stated that the Defendants had done nothing to defend the lawsuit.